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DAVIDSON COUNTY LAWYER SUSPENDED

On June 5, 2018, the Tennessee Supreme Court suspended Casey Eugene Moreland from the practice of
law until further orders of the Court pursuant to Tennessee Supreme Court Rule 9, Section 22.3. Mr. Moreland
was suspended based upon pleading guilty to obstruction of an official proceeding, conspiracy to retaliate
against a witness, victim, or informant, conspiracy to commit theft, embezzlement, or conversion of over $5,000
in funds from an organization receiving over $10,000 in federal benefits, destruction of records or documents

with the intent to obstruct a federal investigation, and tampering with a witness by corrupt persuasion.

The Supreme Court ordered the Board to institute a formal proceeding to determine the extent of final

discipline to be imposed as a result of Mr. Moreland being found guilty.

On April 6, 2017, Mr. Moreland was temporarily suspended from the practice of law by the Tennessee
Supreme Court upon finding that he poses a threat of substantial harm to the public. That suspension remains in
effect. On April 4, 2017, Mr. Moreland resigned from his position as General Sessions Judge in Davidson

County, Tennessee.

Mr. Moreland must comply with Tennessee Supreme Court Rule 9, Section 28, regarding the obligations

and responsibilities of suspended attorneys.
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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF TENNESSEE
AT NASHVILLE

FILED

06/05/2018

Clerk of the
Appeliate Courts

IN RE: CASEY EUGENE MORELAND, BPR #011069
An Attorney Licensed to Practice Law in Tennessee
(Davidson County)

No. M2018-01023-SC-BAR-BP
BOPR No. 2018-2874-5-WM-22.3

ORDER OF ENFORCEMENT

This matter is before the Court pursuant to Tenn. Sup. Ct. R. 9, § 22.3, upon a
Notice of Submission filed by Disciplinary Counsel for the Board of Professional
Responsibility consisting of a certified copy of the Plea Agreement in the United States
District Court for the Middle District of Tennessee, Nashville Division, in the matter of
United States of America v. Moreland (attached as Exhibit A) demonstrating that Casey
Eugene Moreland, a Tennessee attorney, has pled guilty to serious crimes, i.e.,
obstruction of an official proceeding in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1512(c)(2) and 2,
conspiracy to retaliate against a witness, victim, or informant in violation of 18 U.S.C. §
1513(e) and (f), conspiracy to commit theft, embezzlement, or conversion of over $5,000
in funds from an organization recetving over $10,000 in federal benefits in violation of
18 U.S.C. §§ 666(a)(1)(A) and 371, destruction of records or documents with the intent to
obstruct a federal investigation in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1519 and 2, and tampering
with a witness by corrupt persuasion in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1512(b)(1).

On Aprl 6, 2017, Mr. Moreland was temporarily suspended by this Court
pursuant to Tenn. Sup. Ct. R. 9, § 12.3 (Case No. M201-00688-SC-BAR-BP). To date,
Mr. Moreland has not applied for nor been granted reinstatement.

IT IS THEREFORE, CONSIDERED, ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND
DECREED BY THE COURT THAT:

1. Casey Bugene Moreland is suspended from the practice of law on this date
pending further orders of this Court, pursuant to Tenn. Sup. Ct. R. 9, § 22.3;

2. This matter shall be referred to the Board of Professional Responsibility for
the institution of a formal proceeding in which the sole issue to be determined shall be the
extent of the final discipline;



3. Casey Eugene Moreland shall fully comply with the provisions of Tenn.
Sup. Ct. R. 9, § 28, concerning suspended attorneys;

4. The Order of Temporary Suspension entered April 6, 2017 in Case No.
M201-00688-SC-BAR-BP shall remain in effect; and

5.  The Board of Professional Responsibility shall cause notice of this
suspension to be published as required by Tenn. Sup. Ct. R. 9, § 28.11.

PER CURIAM
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
MIDDLE DISTRICT OF TENNESSEL
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L, B
NASHVILLE DIVISION By Ann Frantz tn\iay 25, 2018
- DERUTY. CLERK

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA. ) . 3 ‘
Plaintify, )

) No. 3:17-00066

v. ) Chief Judge Crenshaw

)
CASON MORELAND )
Defendant, )

PLEA AGREEMENT

The United States of America—through Donald Q. Cochran, United States Attorney for
the Middle District of Tennessee; Cecil VanDevender, Assistant United States Attorney; Annal,ou
Tirol, Acting Chief of the Public Integtity Section of the Crirpinal Division of the United States
Department of Justice; and Lauren Bell and Andrew Laing, Trlal Attorneys for the Public Integrity
Section of the Criminal Division of the United States Department of Justice—and Defendaht,
Cason Moreland, through Defendant’s counsel, Peter J. Strianse, putsuant to Rule 11(c)(1)(B) of

the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, have entered into an agreement, the terms and conditions

of which are ag follows:
Charges in This Case
L. Defendunt ecknowledges that he has been charged in a ten-count supersoding

indictment in this case. Count One charges tampering with a witness by corrupt persuasion, in
violatlon of 18 U.s.d. §§ 1512()(3) and 2. Count Two charges obs&uctlon of an official
procesding, in violation of 18 U.8.C, §§ 1512(c)(2) and 2, Count Three chargos obstmcﬁon ofa
criminal investigation by bribery, in violation of 18 U.8.C. §§ 1510(a) and 2, Count Four charges

conspiracy fo retaliate against a witness, vietim, ot informant, in violation of 18 U.8.C. §8 1513(e)

Exhibit A
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and 1513(f), Count Five charges falsification of records or documents with the intent to obstruot
a federal investigation, in violqtion of 18 US.C. §§ 1519 and 2, Count Six charges conspiracy to
commit theft, embezzlomont, or con;rersic;;l of over $5,000 in funds ‘ﬁ'om an organization receiving
over $10,000 in federal benefits, in violation of 18 U.S.C, §§ 666(a)(1)(A) and 371, Count Seven
charges theft, embezzlement, or conversion of over $5,000 in funds from an organization receiving
over $10,000 in federal benefits, in violation of 18 U.S.C, §§ 666(a)(1)(A) and 2. Count Eight
charges destrution of recotds or docurnents with the intent to obstruct a federal investigation, in
violation of 18 U.8,C, §§ 1519 and 2, Count Nine charges tampering with a witness by corrupt
persuasion, in violation of 18 U.8,C. § 1512(b)(1). Count Ten chatges the commission of an
offense while on release, in violation of 18 U.8,C, § 3147(1). Defendant has also been charged
with a forfeiture allegation, in violation of 18 U.8.C, § 982(a)(3) and 28 U.8.C, § 2461(c),

2. Defendant has road the charges ageinst him contained in the supetseding
indictment, and those charges have been fully explained to him by his attorney. Defendant fully
understands the nature and elements of the crimes with which he has been charged.

Charges to Which Dofendant js Pleading Guilty

3. By this Plea Agreement, Defendant agrees to enter a voluntary plea of guilty to the
fq}lowing counts of the superseding indictment: Count Two, charging obstruotion of an officlal
proceeding; Count Four, charging conspiracy to retaliate agalnst a witness, victim, or informant;
Count Six, charging cbnspiraoy to commit thoft, embezzlement, or conversion of over $5,000 in
funds from an organization recelving over $10,000 in federal benefits; Count Eight, charging
destruction of records or documents with the intent to obstruct a foderal invcsﬁgation; and Count
Nine, charging tampering with a witness by corrupt persuasion, In addition, as further provided

below, Defendant agrees to the entry of a forfeiture money judgment in the amount of $13,500,
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4. After sentence has been imposed on the counts to which Defendant pleads guilty as
agreed hereln, the govetnment will move to dismiss the remalning counts of the superseding
imiictment. Those dismissed.oounts carry the followi.nlg maximum penalties: with respect to Count
One, up to 20 years’ imprisonment, up to three years of supervised release, o fine of up to $250,000,
and a special assessmeont of $100; with respect to Count Three, up to 10 years’ imprisonment, up
to threo years of supervised release, a fine of up to $250,000, and a special assessment of $100;
with respeot to Count Five, up to 20 years’ imprisonment, up to three years of supervised release,
a fine of up to $250,000, and a special assessment of $100; with respect to Count Soven, up to 10
years’ imptisontnent, up to three years of supervised release, a fine of up to $250,000, and & special
assessment of $100; with respect to Count Ten, up to 10 years' imprisonment, up to three years of
| supervised release, & fine of up to $250,000, and a special assessment of $100,

5, The govetnment agrees not to bring additional charges against Defendant based on
conduot that was discussed during the proffer sessions held on May 9 and May 11, 2018, provided
that the information that Defendant disclosea during those proffer sessions presents a complete,
truthful, and accurate depiction of Defendant’s conduct,

Penalties

6. The parties undetstand and agree that the offenses to which Defendant will enter a
plea of guilty carry the following maximum penalties: with respect to Count Two, up to 20 yeas’
imprisonment, up to three years of supervised relcase, a fine of up to $250,000, and a speclal
assessment of $100; with respect to Count Fout, up to 10 yeats’ imprisonment, up to three yeurs
of superviéed release, a fine of up to $250,000, and a special assessment of $100; with respect to
Count Six, up to five years’ imprisonment, up to three years of supervised rolease, a fine of up to

$250,000, and a special agsessment of $100; with respect to Count Eight, up to 20 years’
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imprisonment, up to three years of supervised xelease, a fine of up to $250,000, and a speoial
agsessment of $100; and with respect o Count Nino, up to 20 years’ imprisonment, up to three
years of suporw;ised release, a fine of up to $250,000, and & siaeciﬁl agsessment of $100, Defendant
further understands that the Court may order restitution to the victims of the offense, Defendant
also understands that a defendant who is not a United States oitizen may be removed from the
Un.ited States, denied oitizenship, and denied admission to the United States in the future,
regardless of whether the Defendant currontly has lawful temporary or permanent tesident status.
Defendant also understands that as a result of his offenses, he is subjoot to forfelture of property
asg alleged in the superseding indictment,
cknovledgements and Watvers Reparding Plea of Guil
Nature of Plea Ag‘rcemont

7. This Flen Agroement is entively voluntary and tepresents the entire ageement
between the United States Attorney and the Criminal Division of the Department of Justice, on the
one side, and Defendant, on the other, regarding Defeﬁdant’s criminal ‘liability in Cagse No, 3:17f
00066.

8. Defendant understands that by pleading guilty he surrenders certain trial rights,
including the following:

8, If Defendant persisted in a plea of not guilty to the charges against him, ho
would have the right to a public and speedy trial, Defendant has a right to a Jury trial, and the trfal
would be by a judge rather than a jury only if Defendant, the government, and the Court all agreed
to have no jury,

b, If tho trlal wete o jury trlal, the jury would be composed of twelye

laypersons gelected at random. Defendant and his attorney would have & say in who the jurors
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would be by removing prospective jurors for cause, or without cause by exerolsing so-oalled
peremptory challenges, The jury would have to agtee unanimously befote it could return a verdiot

' of:,eithor guilt';/ ot not guiit}. The jury would be instructed that Defendant is presumed {nnocent;
that the government bears the burden of proving Defendant guilty of the charges beyond a
reasonable doubt; and that it must consider each count of the superseding indictment against
Defendant separately.

o, If the trlal were held by the judge without a jury, the judge would find the
facts and détermine, after heating all the evidence, whether or not the judge was petsuaded of
Defendant’s guilt beyond a reasonable doubt,

d. At a trial, whether by a jury ot & judge, the government would be required
to present its witnesses and other evidence against Defendant, Defendant would be able to confront
those government witnesses and his attorney would be able to cross-examine them. In tutn,
Defendant could present witnesses and other evidence on his own behalf, If the witnesses for
Defendant would not appear voluntarily, he could require their attendance through the subpoena
powet of the Court,

e At & trial, Defendant would have a privilege againat self-incrimination so
that he could testify or decline to testify, and no inference of guilt could be drawn from his refusal
to testify.

9 Defendant understands that by plending guilty he is waiving all of the teial rights
set forth in the prior paragraph. Defendant’s attorney has explained those rights to him, and the

consequences of his waiver of those rights,
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Factunl Bagiy

10, Defendant will plead guilty becauss he is in fact guilty of the charges contained in
Counts Two, Four, Six, Bight, and Nine of the suporsediné indictmont.. In ple.ad‘iﬁg guilty,
Defendant adiits the facts contained in the attached statomont of facts and that those facts establish
his guilt beyond a reasonable douBt.

11, This statoment of facts s ptovided to asslst the Court in determining whethor a
factual basis exiats for Defendant's plea of guilty and oriminal forfeiture, The statoment of faots
does not contain each and overy faot known to Defendant and to the United States concerning
Defendant’s and/or others’ involvement in the offense conduct and other mattets,

Sentoncing Guidolines Caleulgtions

12, The parties understand that the Cowrt will take account of the Unlted States
Sentencing Guidelines (hereinafter “U.S.S.G."), together with the other sentencing factors set forth
at 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a), and will consider the U.S.5.G, advisory sentencing range in imposing
Defendant's sentence, The patties aéree that the U.5.5.G. to be considered in this case are thoge
offective November 1, 2017,

13, For purposes of determining the U.8.5.G, advisory sentencing range, the United
States and Defendant agree to recommend to the Court, putsuant to Rule 11{e)(1)(B), the
following:

a Offense Lovel Caloulations,
i, The convictions for Counts Two and Four are grouped under
U.5.8.G. §3D1.2(s). The base offense level for Counts Two and Four js 14,

pursuant to U.S.8.G. § 2J1.2(a). Two levels are added because Defendant abuged a
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position of public ot private trust, pursuant to U.8.S,G. § 3B1.3. This results in an
offense level of 16,

i * The ooxiviotions for Counts Six and Eight ate grouped under
U.S.8.G. § 3D1.2(c), and the offone level for that group will be the greater of A)
the offense lovel for the underlying offense (Count Six), inoreased by the two-level
adjustment set forth in U.S.8,G, § 3C1.1, or (B) the offense level for the obstruction
offense (Count Eight), See U.8.8,G. § 3C1.1 emt, app. n.8.

1. The offense level for the substantive offense (Count Six), is
calculated as follows, The base offense level is 6, pursvant to
U.8.8.G, § 2B1.1(a)(2). Four levels aro added pursuant to U.S.8.G.
§ 2B 1.1(b)(1)(C), because the loss amount is more than $15,000 but
not mote than $40,000, Two levels are added for obstruction,
pursuant to US.S.G. §3CL.1. Two levels are added because
Defendant abused a position of public or private trust, pursuant to
U.S.S.G. § 3B1.3. This results in an offense level of 14,

2. The offense level for the obstruotion offense (Count Bight), is
caloulated as follows, The base offense level is 14, pursuant to
US.8.G. §2J1.2(n). Three lovels are added because the offense
involved the substantial interforence with the administration of
justice, pursuant to U.8.8.G, § 271.2(b)(2). Two additional levels are
added pursuant to U.S.5.G. §2J1.2(b)(3), because the offense
involved the destruction of a substantial number of records and

docutments, and involved the desttuction of essential or especially
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probative records and doouments. Two levels ate added because
Defendant abused a position of public or private trust, pursuant to
U.S.S.G. § 3B1.3, This results in an offenso lovel of 21.
3 Becaﬁse the offense level for the obstruction offense (Count Eight)
is greater than the offense level for the substantive offense (Count
Six), the offense level for the obstruction offense applies, and the
offense level for the group is 21.
i, The base offense lovel for Count Nine is 14, pursuant to U.S,5.G,
§ 2J1.2(a). The offense level is increased by 3 levels, pursuant to U.S.8.G. § 3C1.3,
because the offense was committed while Defendant was on release. This results in
an offeﬁse level of 17 for Count Nine,
Iv. The three groups result in 2-and-a-half Units, pursuant to U.S.S.G.
§ 3D1.4, which results in an increas.e of 3 levela to the total offense level,

v, Assuming Defendant olearly demonstrates acceptance of responsibility,

'to the satisfaction of the government, through his allocution and subsequent conduct

prior to the imposition of sentence, a 2-level reduction will be warranted, putsuant to
US.8.G. § 3ELI(a). Purthermore, assuming Defendant accepts responsibility as
described in the previous sentence, the United States will mave for an additional one-
lovel reduction pursuant to U.8.8,G § 3B1.1(b), because Defendant will have given

timely notice of his intention to enter a plen of guilty, thereby permitting the

govetnment to avold preparing for tefal and petmitting the government and the Court

to allocate their tesources efficiently.
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vi, The parties agtee that no additional upward or downward adjustments

. are appropriate,

b. Recommended Offense Level: Thetefore, the parties agree to recommend to the

Court a final offense lovel, after acoeptance of responsibility, of 21 (the “Recommended Qffense

Lovel”), Defondant understands that the offense level as ultimately detetmined by the Court (the
“court-determined offenso level”) may be different from the Recommended Offense Level,
Defendant likewise undetstands that the guidelines range as ultimately detetmined by the Cout
(the “couri~determined guidelines range”) may be based oxi an offense lt_avcl different from the
Recommended Offense Level,

c, Defendant is aware that the Recommended Offense Level is a prediction, not a.
promise, and is not binding on the Probation Office ot the Coutt, Defendant understands that the
Probation Office will conduet its own investigation and make its own recommendations, that the Court
ultimately determines the facts and Iaw relevant to sentencing, that the Court’s determinations govetn
the final guidelines caloulations, and that the Court determines both the final offense level and the
final guidelines range. Accordingly, the validity of this agresment is not contingent upon the
Probatlon Officer's or the Cowt’s concurrence with the above caloulations, In the event that the
Probation Office or the Court contemplates any U,S.S.G, adjustments, depatures, or caloulations
different from those recommended above, the parties resetve the right to answer any inquirles and to
'make all appropriate arguments concerning the same, Defendant further acknowledges that if the}
Court does not accept the U.S.8.G. recommendations of the parties, Defendant will have no right to

withdraw his guilty ples,

~ Case 3:17-cr-00066 Document 63 Filed 05/24/18 Page 9 of 35 PagelD #: 362




Agreemonts Relating to Sentencing
14, Bachparty is free to recommend whatever sentence it deems appropriate.

15, Itis understood by the pactics that the Court is neither a party to nor bound by this
Plea Agreoment and, after consideration of the U.8.8.G., may impose the maximum penaltios ag
st forth above, Defendant further acknowledges that if the Cour't does not accept the sentencing
recommendation of the pasties, Defendant will have no right to withdraw his guilty plea,
Similatly, Defondant understands that any recommendation by the Court related to location of
imprisonment is not binding on the Bureau ofPrisons.‘ '

16,  Regarding restitution, the parties acknowledge that the amount of restitution owed to
the Tennessee Recovery Foundation, fk/a Davidson County Drug Court Foundation (“tho
Foundation"), is 18,000, and that pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 36634, the Court
must otder Defendant to make restitution in this amount, minus 'any ctedit for funds repaid prior to
sontencing, The parties agree that if Nan Casoy is ordered to pay restitution in Case No, 3:18-ct-
00054, Defendant and Casey will be jointly and severally liable for the money owed to the Foundation,
Unless the Coutt otders otherwise, restitution shall be due immediately,

17, Defendant agrees to pay the speéial assessment of $500 st the time of sentencing to

the Clerk of the U.S, Disttict Coutt,
Torfeiture of Proporty

18,  The superseding indictment charges that Defendant is liable to the United States for a

sum of money equal to the amount of proceeds that constitute, or are derlved fiom, proceeds traceable

10
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to the fraud scheme alleged in Counts Six and Seven, By entty of a guilty plea to Count Six of the
superseding indlotment, Defendant acknowledges that such proceeds are subject to forfelture,!

19.  Defendant agrees to the entry of an Order of Forfeiture consisting of a money judgment
in the amount of $13,500,

20,  Defendant understands that forfeiture of this property shall not be treated as
satisfaction of any fine, cost of imprisonment, or any other penalty the Court may impose upon
Defendant in addition to the forfelture judgment, The parties intend and expect that any payment
that Defendant makes toward forfeiture will bo credited to reduce the restitution amount via the
remission and restoration process. Defendant understands, however, that the Money Laundering
and Asset Recovery Section of the U.S, Depattment of Justice, which is not bounci by this
agreement, retains ultimate discretion regarding whether to grant or deny any request related to the
remission and restoration process,

Presentence Investigation Report/Post-Sentence Supervision

21,  Defendant understands that the United States Attorney's Office and the ériminal
Division of the Department of Justice, in their submission to the Probation Office as part of the Pre-
Sentence Report and at sentencing, shall fully apprise the Disttiot Court and the United States
Probation Office of the nature, scope, and extent of Defendant's conduct regarding the charges
against him, as well ay any related matters, The government will make known all matters in

agpravation and mitigation relevant to the issue of sentencing.

! A conviction under Count Six triggers forfeiture under 18 U.S.C. § 981(a)(1)(C), tather than
§ 981(a)(3), as charged in the superseding indictment. Defendant hereby waives any olaim that he
might have arising from the superseding indictment’s oltation to an incorcect subsection of the
forfeiture statute, ‘

11
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22, Defondant agrees to exocute ttuthfully and completely o Financial Statement (with
supporting documentation) prior to sentencing, to be provided to and shared among the Court, the
United States Probation Office, and the United States Attorney’s Office and the Critninal Division
of the Department of Justico regarding all details of his financial circumstances, inoluding his recent
income tax returns as specified by the Probation Officer, Defendant understands that providing false
or lncomplete information, or fefusing to provide this information, may bo used as a basis for denial
of a reduction for aceeptance of responsibility pursuant to U.8.8,G, § 3B1.1 and enhancement of
his sentence for obstruction of justice under U.S.8.G. § 3CL.1, and may be prosecuted as a violation
of Title 18, Unlted States Code, Scction 1001, or as a contempt of the Court,

23,  This Plea Agreerhent concerus criminal Hability only, Except as expressly set forth
in this Plea Agreement, nothing herein shall constitute a limitation, waiver, or release by the United
States or any of ity agchcies of any adminlsteative or judicial elvil claim, demand, or cause of action
it may have against Defendant or any other person ot entity. The obligations of this Plea Agreement
are limited to the United States Attorney’s Office for the Middle Distriot of Tennessee and the
Criminal Division of the Depattment of Justice and cannot bind any other federal, state, or local
prosecuting, administrative, or regulatory authorities, except as expressly set forth in this Plea
Agreement. |

24, Dofen.dant understands that nothing in this Plea Agreement shall limit tho Internal

Revenue Setvice in its collection of any taxes, interest, or penalties from Defendant and his spouse,

12
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Intry of Guilty Plea
25, The parties jolntly request that the Court accept the Defendant’s plen of guilty as

set forth in this agreement and enter an order refleoting the acceptance of the plea while reserving
acceptance of this plea agreement until recoipt of the pre-sentence report and sentencing,
Waiver of Appellate Rights

26, Regatding the issue of guilt, Defendant hereby waives all (1) tights to appeal any issue
bearing on the determination of whether he is gullty of the crime(s) to which he is agreeing to plead
guilty; and (ii) trial rights that might have been available if he exercised his right to go to trial,
Regarding sentencing, Defendant is aware that 18 U.S,C. § 3742 generally affords a defendant the
right to appenl the sentence imposed. Acknowledging this, Defendant knowingly waives the right to
appeal any sentence within or below the guideline range assooiated with the Recommended Offense
Level when combined with Defendant’s ctiminal history category as determined by the Court,
Defendant further waives all appellate rights and all collateral attacks concerning forfoiture and all
matters yelated thereto, Defendant also knowingly waives the right to challenge the senterice imposed
in any motion pursuant to 18 U.S,C. § 3582(c) and in any gollatorul attaok, including, but not
limited to, a motion brought pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2255 and/or § 2241, Howevet, no waiver of
the right to appeal, or to challenge the adjudication of guilt or the sentence imposed in any.collateral
attack, shall apply to a claim of involuntariness, prosecutorial misconduct, or ineffective assistance
of counsel. Likowlse, the government waives the right to appeal any sentence within 01: above the
guideline range associated with the Recommended Offense Leyel when combined with Defendant’s

oriminal history category.

13
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Other Teéring

27, Defendant agrees to cooperate with the United States Attotney’s, Office and the
Criminal Divislon of the Department of Justice in éollcotlng any unpaid fine and restitution for which
Defendant is liable, inoluding providing financial statements and supporting records as requested by
the United States Attorney’s Office and the Ctiminal Division of the Department of Justice. Defendant
further ngrees that any monetary penalties imposed by the Court will be subject to immediate
enforcement as provided for in 18 US.C. § 3613, and submitted to the Treasury Offset Programs so
that any federal payment or transfer of retutned property the Defendant receives may be offset and
applied to federal debts but will not affect the perlodio payment sohedule,

28.  Defendant recognizes that pleading guilty may have consequences with respect to
his immigtation status if he is not a citizen of the United States. Under federal law, a broad range
of cﬁmes ate removable offenses, including the offenses to which Defendant is pleading guilty.
Removal and other immigration consequences are the subject of a separate proceeding, however,
and Defendant understands that no one, inoluding his attorney or the Coutt, can prediot to a
certainty the effect of his conviction on his immigration status, Defendant nevertheless affirms
that he wants to plead guilty regardless of any immigration consequences that his plea may entail,
even if the consequence is his automatic removal from the United States.

29.  The United States agrees not to seek additlonal etiminal charges in the Middle
District of Tennessee ageainst Defendant for the events between January 25, 2017 and Februaty 13,

2018, which occurred in the Middle Distriot of Tennessee and which he has desoribed in his proffer

provided to the United States. However, nothing it this Plea Agreement limits the United States

14
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in the prosecution of Defendant in other districts or for crimes not disclosed in his proffer, excopt
as expressly set forth in this Plea Agreement.

30.  Should Defendant engage in additional criminal activity after he has pled guilty but
prior to sentencing, Defendant shall be considered to have breached this Plea Agreement, and the
government at its option'may void this Plea Agteement.

Conclugion

31, Defendant understands that the superseding indiotment and this Plea Agreement
have been or will be filed with the Court, will become matters of public record, and may be
disclosed to any person,

32,  Defendant understands that his compliance with each part of this Plea Agrecmeont
extends until such time as he is sentenced, and failure to abide by any tetm of the Plea Agreement is
a violation of the Plea Agreement, Defendant further understands that in the event he violates this
Plea Agreement, the government, at its option, may move to vacato the Plea Agreement, rendering
it null and void, and thereafter proseoute Defendant not subject to any of the limits set forth in this
Plea Agreement, or may require Defendant’s specific performance of this Plea Agreement,
Defendant undesstands and agrees tﬁat in the event that the Coutt permits Defendant to withdraw
from this Plea Agteement, or Defendant brenches any of its terms and the government elects to void
the Plea Agreement and proseoute Defendant, any prosecutions that are not time-barred by the
applicable statute of limitations on the date of the signing of this Plen Agreement may be
commenced against Defendant in accordance with this paragraph, notwithstanding the expiration
of the statute of limitations between the signing of this Plea Agreemeont and the commencement of

such prosecutions.
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33, Defendant and his attorney acknowledge that no threats have been made to cauge
Defendant to plead guilty,

34, No promises, agreements, or conditions have been enteted into other than those set
forth in this Plea Agreement, and none will be entered into unless memorialized in writing and

signed by all of the parties listed below.

‘ 35, Defondant’s Signature; I heteby agreo that I have consulted with my attomey and fulty
understand all tights with respect to the pending supetseding indictment. Further, I fully understand all
rights with respect to the provisions of the Sentencing Guidelines that may apply inmy case. X have read
this Plea Agreement and carefully reviewed every patt of it with my attorney, I undetstand this Plea
Agreement, and I voluntavily agree to it,

Date: 5-a4-19 @'{/“ >

Cason Moreland
Defendant

36,  Defense Counsel Signature: I am counsel for Defendant in this case, I have fully

explained to Defendant his rights with respect to the pending superseding indictment, Further, I
have reviewed the provisions of the Sentencing Guidelines and Policy Statements, and I have fully
explained to Defendant the provisions of those guidelines that may apply in this case, I have
reviewed carofully overy part of this Plen Agreement with Defendant, To my knowledge,

Defendant’s decision to enter into this Plea Agtcement is an informed and voluntary one,

Date: S 2SI o loon (P P T

Poter J, Strianse
Attorney for Defendant
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ANNALOQU TIROL

Acting Chief, Public Integrity Section
Criminal Division

United States Department of Justice

S Toell

LAUREN BELL

ANDREW LAING

Trial Attorneys, Public Integrity Section
Criminal Division

United States Department of Justice
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Respeotfully submitted,

DONALD Q. COCHRAN
United States Attorney
Middle District of Tennessee

o L

CECIL W. VANDEVENDER
Assistant United States Attorney
Middle District of Tennessee




STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. Cason Moreland (“Defendant”) was a judge on the General Sessions Coutt of
-Metropolitan Nashville & Davidson County, Tennessee, Defendant presided over Division X of
the General Sessions Court and heard civil, criminal, and traffic cases. Tennesses law required
judges, including Defendant, to “administer justice without respeoct of bersons, and impartially
dischatge all the duties incumbent on e judge ot chancellor, to the best of [his] skill and ability.”
T.C.A. § 17-1-104,

2. Defendant also presided over the General Sessions Drug Treatment Court (the
“Drug Treatment Coutt”), which was a specialized court program designed to provide altetnatives
to incarceration for certain defendants. Cases in the Deug Treatment Court were handled by a team
of people that included representatives from tho offico of the District Attorney General, the office
of the Public Defender, the Probation Office, and certain treatment centers and transitional living

fucilities,

3 The work of the Drug Treatment Coutt was supported by the Davidson County

Drug Court Foundation (the “Dtug Court Foundation™), which was a nonprofit entity founded in
2009 and organized under 26 U.S.C, § 501(c)(3). Although Defendant did not have an official
position with the Drug Court Foundation, he exercised de facto authority ovet the Drug Court
Foundation's operations, From on ot about December 22, 2016 to on or about December 21, 2017,
the Drug Court Foundation received more than $10,000 in federal benefits from the United States
Department of Health and Human Services’ Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services
Administration,

4, The Court Foundation Center was an outpatlent treatment facility created by,

oontrolled by, and opetated under the aegls of the Drug Court Foundation,
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5. “J.P.” was a neighbor of Defendant’s sister who had known Defendant for more

than twenty years,
6. “Persan 1,” a female, was an acquaintance of Defendat;t.
7. “Person 2,” a female, wag an acquaintance of Person 1,
8. “Person 3,” a female, was an acquaintance of both Person 1 and J.P,

9. “N.C.” was a filend of Defendant’s who wotked as a member of the Drug
Treatment Court team beginning in 2003 and who served as director of the Court Foundation
Center from 2012 to 2018,

THE FEDERAL CRIMINAL INVESTIGATION OF DEFENDANT AND
PUBLIC ALLEGATIONS OF WRONGDOING INVOLVING PERSON 1

10,  On orabout Januaty 25, 2017, the Federal Bureau of Investigation (‘FBI") opened
a federal criminal investigation into whether Defendant had unlawfully used his official position
as a judge to provide favotable treatment to Person 1 and Person 2.

11.  The next day, on or ghout January 26, 2017, and on multiple occasions thereafter,
the FBI interviowed Person 1 about her relationship with Defendant,
: 12.  On or about January 31, 2017, The Nashville Scene, a Nashville nowsweekly,
published an article alleging that Defendant carriefi on sexual relationships with Person 1 and
Person 2, and that Defendant had Intervened on thelt behalf in General Sessions Coutt cases.
Defendant gave a statement to the newsweokly, in which he generally denied the allegations and
claimed:

8 “I fully reject and deny any petsonal telationship with [Person 2]

whatsoever.”

b, “T never had an inappropriate relationship with [Person 1].”
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o, “At no time did T intervene on [Petson 1 or Petson 2°5] behalf duting or
afler judgments were rendeted by the appropriate courts,”

d. “ﬁecause Ibad even a minimal e;cquaintance with both [Person 2 and Person
1], when thelr cages wete nssigned to my coutt—as a result of a process that is entirely random—
I took the proper step of recusal to ensure the matters were handled in other General Sessions
Courts,” .

13. Onorabout February 1,2017, WSMV-TV, a Nashville television station, broadoast
an interview with Person 1, According to her account in the interview, Person 1 was introduced
to Defendant by Person 2 at a meeting at a local restauant, during which time Person 1 told
Defendant that she owed foes and fines stomming from prior charges for Driving Under the
Influence ("DUI"), Sometime afier the meeting, Defendant sent Petson 1 a text message stating,
“Your fees; fines and court cost are taken care off You now officially owe me || Haha.” Person
1 alleged that she later began a soxual relationship with Defendant,

14, On or about Rebruary 1, 2017, the FBI attempted to interview Defendant at his
office.

15, Inorabout Pebruary 2017, a Federal grand jury in the Middle District of Tennesses
began issuing subpoenas relating to its investigatlon into, among other things, whether Defendant
had unlawfully used his officlal position as a Judge to provide favorable treatment to Potson 1 and
Person 2,

16.  On or about February 7, 2017, media in and around Nashville publicly reported that
the FBI was investigating, among other things, whether Defendant had used his official position

as 8 judge to provide favorable treatment to Person 1 and Person 2.
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17, On or about Februaty 9, 2017, WSMV-TV broadoast another report sbout the
relationship between Defendant and Petson 1, The reportalleged that Defendant intervened during
a traffic stop of Person 1 to help her get out of a ticket, The report showed an exchange of te).:t
messages, In which Petson 1 thanked Defendant for his nssistance and Defendant replied: “Just
used my super powers!|” and “My desk still has butt matks on it!l” The report alleged that the
Intter text mossage referred to a sexual encounter between Defendant and Person 1 at Defendant’s
office after Person 1 was released from the teafflc stop,

18, On or about Februaty 23, 2017, Defendant’s attorney met with prosecutors to
discuss the statug of the federal criminal investigation,

DEFENDANT'S OBSTRUCTION OF :
THI FEDERAL CRIMINAL INVESTIGATION RELATING TO PERSON 1

19,  Between on or about March I, 2017, and on or sbout March 10,2017, itt the Middle
Distrlct of Tennessee and elsewhere, Defendant did corruptly obstruct, influence, and impeds, and
attempt to obstruct, influence, Qnd impede, an official proceeding, that is, a Fedetsl grand Jjuty
Investigation,

20,  Between on or about March 1, 2017, and on or about Match 16,2017, in the Middle
District of Tennesses and elsewhere, Defendant did knbwingly, with the intent to retaliate, take an
action harmful to Person 1, and did conspire to take an action harmful to Person 1, for providing
to a law enforcement officer any truthful information telating to the commission and possible
commission of a Federal offense

21, On or about Maroh 1, 2017—Ilcss than a week after Defondant’s attorney had met
with the U.S, Attorney’s Office to discuss the statug of the faderal otiminal investigation—
Defendant arranged to meet with P, Defendant told J.P. that he was under investigation and that
he could lose his job as a judge and face oriminal charges, Dofendant told J.P, that he noeded J L.

21

Case 3:17-cr-00066 Document 63 Filed 05/24/18 Page 21 of 35 PagelD #: 374




help to persuade Person 1 to sign an affidavit taking back her public allegations about their
relationship, Defondant told J.P, that he was prepared to pay thousands of dollars if Person 1
WO;ﬂd sign the affidavit, J.P. agreed to help Defetnldant do this,

22.  Onor aboutMaroh 1, 2017, during the meeting, Defendant and J.P. determined that
Person 3 was a mutual acquaintance of Petson 1 and J.P, Defendant instruoted J.P. to use Person
3 as a go-botween to persuade Person 1 to sign the affidavit. Defendant told J.P, that he could give
Person 3 several thousand dollats, which Person 3 could use to pay Person 1 to’ gign the affidavit,
while keeping some for herself,

23, On about March 1, 2017, during the meeting, Defendant also told J.P, that he
wanted to destroy Person 1's oredibility by gotting her atrested on drug charges. Defendant asked
TP, if he could help arrange for Person 1 to be stopped in her car‘by a police officer and for drugs
to be found there. J.P, agreed to help Defendant do this,

24,  On or about March 2, 2017, Defendant told J.P, that he was worrled that his phone
calls were being monitored. Defendant instructed JP. to buy him a “butnet” phone reglstered to
a fake name so that he could talk to J.P, without being tecorded.

25, Onor about March 3, 2017, J.P, went to a Verizon store and bought a “burner”
phone for Defendant. J.P. registered the phone in the name of “Raul Rodtiguez.”

26. On or about March 3, 2017, Defondant met J.P.,, who gave him the “Rapl
Rodriguez” burner phone,

27.  Onor shout March 3, 2017, during the same meeting, Defcndant instructed J.P, to
call Petson 1°s phone to mako sure that Defondant still had a good phone number for het, IP,,

vsing his phone, called Person 1 on speakerphone, with Defendant listening, Person 1 answered
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the call, Defendant confirmed that it wag her, and J.P, attempted to make it seem that he had dialed
the wrong number,

. 28. lOn or about March 5, 2017, Defendant told ., tc; get in touch with Petson 3 to ask
for her help in getting Person 1 to sign the affidavit. J.P. spoke to Person 3 .that evening and told
her that he could give her thousands of dollats, which she could share with Petson 1 if Porson 1
would sign an sffidavit recanting her allegations about Defendant, |

29, On or about March 6, 2017, Person 3 spoke to Person 1 and told her about the
proposal from J.P, Person 1 called the FBI and reported the information.

30.  Onor about March 9, 2017, Defendant sent a text message to J.P. with a photograph
of a large pile of oash., Defendant told J.P, that hoe could send the picture to Person 3 to prove that
the money was ready and available,

31, On or about March 9, 2017, Petson 3 was approached by the FBI and agreed to
cooperate in its criminal investigation. Petson 3 consented to the FBI recording her conversations
with I.P,

32, On ot about March 9, 2017, Person 3, acting at the direcfion of the FBI, called J.P,
IP. was meeting with Defendant at the time, and Defendant listened on speakerphone to the
" conversation between Person 3 and J.P, P, told Person 3 that he had “a bunch of hundred dollar
bills” f;)r her, Person 3 responded that Porson 1 did not want to sign the affidavit, Person 3 also
told J.P. that she had given Person 1 JP.’s full name.

33, Immediately after this phone conversation, on or about March 9, 2017, Defendant
told J.P, that they needed to create a false cover story to explain why Defendant had sent I.P, a
photograph of a pile of cash, Defendant then sent J.P. a text message falsely implying that he had -

sent the photogtaph to show the proceeds of Defendant’s recent sale of his motoroyole.
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34, On or about March 10, 2017, J.P, was approached by the FBI and agreed to
cooporate in its otiminal investigation, J.P. consented to the FBI recording his conversations with
Defendant. .

35,  On or about March 10, 2017, Defendant uged the “Raul Rodriguez” butner phone
to call JP, At the FBI's ditection, IP, told Defendant that he had spoken to Petson 3 again and
that Person 1 might be willing to sign the affidavit, Defendant responded that “it might be a setup”
and told J.P, to go out for drinks with Person 1 and Person 3 to “feel it out.” Defendant told J1.P,
to tell Person 1 and Pexson 3 “that I [Defendant] don’t know anything about it.”

36.  Before ending that same phone call, on or about March 10, 2017, Defendant told
J.P. that he would call him back with “some numbers.” Shortly thereafter, Defendant used tho
“Raul Rodriguez” burner phone to call J.P, and give him three letters, which Defondant said were
the last three letters of Person 1’s licenge plate number.

37.  On or about March 11, 2017, Defendant met with J.P. At the FBI's direction, J.P.
told Defenddnt that he had met with Person 3 the night before and that he believed that Person 1
would be willing to sign an affidzwit,' J.P. told Defendant that he could meet with Person 1 and
Person 3 that evening, |

. 38.  Upon hearing this information, on or about Match 11, 2017, Defendant gave J.P,
an affidavit that was written as though it was from Person 1, Defendant did so by instructing J.P,
to remove the affidavit from an envelope Defendant was holding, so that Defendant did not get his
. fingetprints on fhe affidavit,
39.  Atthat same meeting, on ot about March 11, 2017, Defendant also gave I.P, $5,100

in cash, to use to get Person 1 to sign the affidavit. Defendant instructed J.P, that the money should
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not be given to Person 1 directly. Instead, Defendant directed J.P, to pass the money to Person |
by giving it to Person 3,

40, The afﬂdav.it that Defondant wanted Person 1 to sign contained false and
misleading statements, including:

a. that Person 1 “was further tricked, coerced, and paid $2,500.00 to give an
interview to [WSMV.-TV]";

b. that the reporter “had knowledge that [Person 1] was paid for the interview
and that [Person 1] was tricked into giving it”;

c. that Person 1 and Defendant “did not have sex in his office,” and that Person
1 had “jokingly [sat] on [Defendant's] desk and left a .butt print, thus the origin of the text
message”;

d. that “Judge Moreland loaned [Petson 1] $800.00 to pay traffic fines in other
countles” and that when Defondant “discovered that [Petson 1] had spent the money o something
other than fines, [their] relationship ended”; and

e. that “several of the text messages on [Petson 1’s] phone were put on there
by way of the SPOFF [sic] phone application and not by Judge Moreland,”

41,  After he gave the affidavit to J.P, duting the meeting on or about March 11, 2017,
Defendant told J.P, that “this right here gets me out of trouble.” Defendant also gave several
instructions to JP, about the affidavit and how ho should deal with Person 1 and Person 3,
including;

8. that “the only thing in there that might not possibly be true is the spoof stuff,

So if [Person 1] wants to mark it out, merk it out, I'd really rather she not”;
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b, that “I got to have in there” that Person 1 was paid for the interviow,

oxplaining “[tJhat gets me out of trouble™;

o. that TP, should not tell Person 1 that he is wotking for Defendant, M

explaining: “You're like a private investigator, We're taking a statement from her, But you don’t

work for me”;

d. that J.P. should speak carefully, as if ho were being recorded, when speaking
with Person 1 and Petgon 3;

é. that J.P, should “never mention a word about money” in front of Petson 1
and should instruct Person 3 not to do so either;

A that J.P, should leave the affidavit and money in his oar when he meets with

Pefson 1, until Petson 1 agrees to sign it; and |

g that J.P. should get Person 1 “liquored up real good before you bring [the
signing of the affidavit] up.”

42,  Later that night, at approximately 8:00 p.m, on or about March 11, 201;1, Defendaut
used the “Raul Rodriguez” burner phone to call 1P, in response to a message from JP, At the
FBI's direction, I.P. told Defendant that he had met with Petson 1 and Petson 3, that he had gone
over the affidavit with Person 1, and that there were statements Person 1 wanted to cross out
bccaﬁso they were untrue, including:

a. that Person 1 had been paid $2,500 for the WSMV interview;

b, that Petson 1 and Defendant never had sex in his office; and

Gy that text messages on Petson 1’s phone had been placed thero by spoofing,
43.  Upon hearing this information, on or about March 11, 2017, Defendant said that he

wanted Person 1 to continue to olaim that she was paid for the WSMV-TV interview, but could

26

Case 3:17-cr-00066 Document 63 Filed 05/24/18 Page 26 of 35 PagelD #: 379




cross out the amount of $2,500. Defendant told J.P. that the affidavit has “got to be the truth,” but
added that “it's got to help me, If she's macking everything out and it's not helping me—."
Defendant also told J.P, what other changes would bé acceptable or not,

44,  Duting the same phone conversation, on or about March 11, 2017, Defendant asked
JP, how much money Person 1 wanted for herself to sign the affidavit. At the FBI's direction,
J.P. responded that Person 1 wanted “half,” meaning approximately $2,500, Defendant responded;
“Well, but she’s going to have to do something to help me for it.” Defendant told J.P. that he did
not “care what [Petson 1] keeps.” Defendant further suggested that he would be willing to pay
mote money if necessary, stating,"‘[W]e’Il take care of whoevet on the back end, too” and “if we
have to have a liftle more, we’ll have a little more.”

45.  Less than one hour later, on or about March 11, 2017, Defendant used the “Raul
Rodriguez” burner phone to call J.P. At the FBI’s direction, J.P, told Defendant that Person 1
would sign the affidavit “as-is” for an extra $1,000. J.P. explained that he would need to take that
money from the cut to which he had agreed with Person 3, so Defendant would need to come up
with another $1,000 to cover it, Defendant agreed, telling J.P.: “If you need po come by hete
tonight, I'll give it to you tonight.” Defendant instructed J.P, to try and take & video of Person 1
reading the affidavit out loud.

46,  Later thet night, on or about March 11, 2017, Defendant met with J.P, Defendant
gave JP, the extra $1,000, and I.P, gave Defendant the false affidavit, which Defendant bolieved
1o have been sigxied by Person 1, but which had in fact been signed by an FBI agent, Defendant
asked J.P, if he would notarize the affidavit. J.P, replied that he would look for his notary stamp

when he got hotne,
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47.  The next day, on or about March 12, 2017, Defendant called TP, and again asked
1P, to notatize the falge affidavit,
‘ 48,  On or about March 14, 2017, befendunt met with JP, to get the false affidavit
notatized,

49,  Onor about March 16, 2017, Defendant met with J.P, At the FBI's direction, J.P.
told Defcndant that he had spoken to a law.enforcement officer about planting drugs in Person 1's
car. J.P, told Defendant that the officer agreed that it “wouldn’t look good [for Petson 1] at all.”
Defendant asked 1., “What's he want?”, referting to what the officer wanted to help plant the
drugs. Defendant also asked whether the officet would “be the one to pull hor over” and whether
he had “a dog,” referring to a drug-sniffing dog, Defendant asked whether J.P, had found Person
1’8 car—J.P, replied that he had not—and stated that the tag number he had given J.P. several days
before should be enough to find it.

THE THEFT AND EMBEZZLEMENT OF FUNDS
FROM THE DRUG COURT FOUNDATION

50.  Between on or about March 1, 2016, and on or about January 28, 2018, in the
Middlo District of Tennessee and elsewhere, Defoendant; N.C.,, an agent of an organization
receiving in the one year period beginning December 22, 2016, benefits in excess of $10,000 from
the United States Department of Health and Fluman Services’ Substance Abuse and Mental Health
Services Administration; and others known and unknown, did knowingly and unlawfully combine,
conspire, confederate and agree together and with each other to embezzle, steal, obtain by fraud,
and without autho'rity knowingly convert property worth at least $5,000 and owned by, and under
the care, custody, and control of such an organization, that is, cash and other funds collected from

people recelving substance abuse treatment at the Court Foundation Center
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51, Although Dofendant lacked an official position wifh the Drug Court Foundation,
he used his de facto authority to cause Drug Court Foundation funds to bo expended to refmburse
him for purely personal expenses unrelated to the Drug Court Foundat.ion’s :operations. For
example,

8. On ot about May 6, 2016, Defendant, using the Drug Court Foundation’s

account with a florist, ordered flowers for his mother,

b, On or about July 20, 2016, Defendant, using the Drug Court Foundation's

account with a florlst, ordered flowers for o telative of a filend.

c. On or about August 18, 2016, Defendant, using the Drug Court
Foundation’s acoount with a flopist, oi'dered flowers for his mother,

d. On or about September 2, 2016, Defendant, using the Drug Cou&
Foundation’s account with & florist, ordered flowers for members of the media to show his personal
appreoiation,

e, On or about February 1, 2017, ‘at Defendant’s direction, Defondant’s
Judiclal assistant caused to the Drug Coutt Foundation to pay approximately $464.32 to a florist
for personal putchases made by Defendant, |

52. . As noted above, the Court Foundation Center was an outpatlent treatment facility

that provided substance abuse services, Most of the individuals who received treatment at the
Court Foundation Center were participants in the Drug Treatment Court progtam. For these
individuals, N.C—as the director of the Court Foundation Center—would document their
treatment and submit billing records to the Tennesses Depattment of Mental Health & Substance
Abuse Services (“TDMHSAS®), who would make payments dircotly to the Drug Court

Foundation,
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53, In addition, thero wete other individuals who received troatment at the Court
Foundation Center who wete not Drug Treatment Court pertiolpants. This included individuals
who sought outpatient treatmo.nt for reasons .t‘hat Included efforts to reduce their jail time for DUT
or other offenses, These individuals typioally paid for treatment out of their own pockets, via oash
or money order, and were known as “self-pay olients.” Initlally, these self-pay clients wero
required to pay $500 to participate in a six-month counseling program; later, the self-pay clients
wete requited to pay $750 to particlpate in the program. N.C. collected payments from the self-
pay olients, and would document those payments in & receipt book, N.C. also kept an attendance
log for all indlviduals who attended the Court Foundation Center, with annotations showing
whether they were self-pay clients or participants in the Drug Treatment Court program,

54.  N.C, discussed the terx;ls of her compensation as ditector of the Court‘ Roundation
Center with Defendant, whom N.C, saw as her boss and as the ultimate decision maker for the
Drug Court Foundation, Defendant told N.C. that she should submit a monthly invoice to the Drug
Court Foundation for her time, but that the total amount of all Court Roundation Center involoes
together should not exceed 50% of the total amount that the Drug Court Foundation recelved that
month from TDMHSAS. Defendant acknowledged that this billing arrangement would result in
N.C. being underpaid for the titne she spent working at the Court Foundation Center, as N.C.
would need to underreport her hours worked in order to keep Court Foundation Center involces
below the limit. Defendant therefore told N.C. that she could keep for herself all of the money she
collected from the self-pay clients, and N.C, agreed to do so,

55. By early 2016, the number of self-pay clients who received counseling at the Court
Poundation Center had increased, s a result of a change in state law that made more DUI

defendants eligible to reduco thelr jail sentences by completing outpatient substance abuse
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treatment. As such, the amount of money that N.C, was collecting each month from self-pay
olients increased. N.C, began feoling uneasy about the amount of money that she was collecting
every month, in part because she was no longer conduotfng all of the group counseling sessions
herself, as she had in the beginning,

56, InSpting 2016, N.C. approached Defendant and told him that she folt unessy about
keeping all of the money gha was collecting from self-pay clients, She further told him that she
would prefer to deposit all of the money from self~pay olients into the Drug Court Foundation’s
bank account, while at the same time either becoming a salarled employee or being allowed to bill
the Drug Court Foundation for the entirety of her work at the Court Foundation Center, In
response, Defendant told N.,C. that if she felt uneasy about the money she was keeping, she should
atart giving him half of it, and Defendant stated he would begin working on increasing her
componsation, |

57.  N.C agteed to do so, and, at Defondant's direction, began taking an envelope full
of cagh~-containing helf of the money she had collected from self-pay clients that month—to
Defendant's office once a month. N.C, typically would place the envelope on Defendant’s desk
while he was elsewhere,

58, This atrangement continued until approximately Fall 2016, when N,C. reiterated to
Defendant that she still felt uneasy about keeping.the money from self-pay clients, At that point,
Defendant told N.C. thet she should statt giving him all of the money that she collested from self-
pay clients each month, and, in retutn, she could begin billing the Drug Court Foundation for all
of her work at the Court Foundation Center.

59, N.C. agteed to do so, and thereafter bogan providing Defendant with a monthly

envelope containing all of the money she had collected that month from self-pay ollents, This
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arrangement continued from late 2016 through January 2017, In total, between Spting 2016 and
January 2017, N.C, collected from self-pay clients, and either retalned for hetgelf ot provided to
Defendant, over $15,000 in funds that were stolen, cml;ezzléd, and without authority knowingly
converted from the Drug Court Foundation.

60.  In mid-February 201>7, after having been visited by the FBI, Defendant asked N.C.,
to meet with him in the judges’ area of the parking garage at the courthous. There, Defendant
gave N.C. an envelope full of cash and directed her to purchase a lockbox in which to stote the
cash, N.C, agreed to do so and purchased a lockbox, and sent a photo of it to Defendant for his
approval,

61.  Onorabout March 3, 2017, Defendant called N,C, from his phone and told her that
he would call her back shortly from another phone. Defendant then called N.C. from the “Raul
Rodriguez” butner phone and asked her to bring the money that she was storing In the lookbox out
to his sister's house, where he was staying at the time. |

62. N.C. agreed to do so and brought the money to Defendant at his sister’s houge.
After he received it, Defendant counted the money out on the counter, and it totaled approximately
$6,000, Defendant made a comment to N.C. that she understood to mean that he would use that
money to bribe Person 1 to recant her allegations,

DEFENDANT’S OBSTRUCTION OF THE FEDERAL CRIMINAL INVESTIGATION
RELATED TO THEFT AND EMBEZZLMENT OF FUNDS
FROM THE DRUG COURT FOUNDATION

63.  Between on or about February 1, 2017, and on ot about Pebruary 28, 2017, in the
Middle District of Tennessee and elsewhere, Defendant did knowingly destroy, mutilate, and
conceal, and cause to be destroyed, mutilated, and concealed, records and documents, specifically,

receibt bools and attendance logs from the Court Foundation Center, with the intent to impede,
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cbstruet, and influence the investigation and proper administiation of a matter, and in relation to
and in contemplation of such matter, which was within the jurisdiction of the Rederal Bureau‘of
Investigati;n, a department and agency of the United States,

64,  Aanoted above, the FBI attempted to Interview Defendant at his office on or about
February 1, 2017, N,C, was also ptesent at Defendant’s office when the FBI artived.

65.  In mid-February 2017, after having been visited by the FBI, Defendant directed
N.C. to destroy records and documents that could show the amount of cash belng collected from
self-pay clients, N.C. agreed to do so, and destroyed the receipt book and attendance log from the
Court Foundation Center.

66,  Between in or about March 2017 and in ot about January 2018, Defendant and N,C.
continued to stay in contact with one another, including on occasion by meeting in person for
lunch. These contacts included a lunch meeting between the two of them on. or about December
22,2017, and a sories of text mossages tegarding a potential future lunch meeting botweon the two
of them on or about January 22, 2018,

67.  Between on or about February 9, 2018 and February 13, 2018, Defondant, while on
release pursuant to an order dated March 31, 2017, from the United States District Court for the
Middle Disﬁ‘ict of Tennessee, Case No. 3:17-cr-00066, which order notified said Defendant of the
potential offect of committing an offense while on pretrial releass, did commit the offense of
tampering with & witness by corrupt persuasion in violatlon of Title 18, United States Code,
Section 1512(b)(1).

68,  On or about January 29, 2018, N.C. met with the FBY and, shottly thereafter, agreed
to cooperate in its erlminal investigation, N.C, consented to the FBI recording her conversations

with Defendant,
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62, On or about February 9, 2018, N.C. met Defendant for lunch, and advised him that
she had been contacted by the FBI and had been subpoenaed to produce documents and festify to
a Federal grand jury on or about February 14, 2018, N.C, expressed cc;ncam to Dei’endnnt that the
FBI and grand jury would find out about the money she had given him and about the records and
documents he had direoted het to destroy.

70, Also on or about February 9, 2018, following their lunch meeting, Defendant
corresponded futther with N.C, via phone call and text message.

71, On ot about Febniary 13, 2018,<Defendant had an additional phone conversation
with N.C,

72.  During these conversations between on or about February 9, 2018 and February 13,
2018, Defendant tampered with N.C. by attempting to corruptly petsuade her to provide false or
materially misleading information when she appeared before the Federal grand jury on February
14,2018. Among other things, Defendant;

R presented N,C, with numetous false cover stories about what had happened
to the money collected at the Court Roundation Center from self-pay clients;

b. presented N.C. with numerous false cover stories about what had happened
to the receipt books that N.C, had destroyed at Defendant’s divection; and

e agsured N.C. that no one else knew about the money she had given him, and
that the only way the information would come to light, and thus the only way that she could
potentlally get in trouble was if she disclosed it.

73, At the time of these conversations between on or about Februaty 9, 2018 and
February 13, 2018, Defendant was under indictment and had been released on pretrial rolease under

18 U.S.C, § 3142, pursuant to ean order dated March 31, 2017, That order notified Defendant,
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among other things, that “[1]t is a orlme” to “obstruct a criminal investigation” or “tamper with a

witness, viotlm, or Informant,” and further notified him of the potential effeot of such violations,
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